IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPIOUTHERN DISTRICT DISTRIC

Chester McCoy; Benjamin Causey; and DeMarcus Haile, individually, and on behalf of all of those similarly situated

Plaintiffs,

v.

Defenders, Inc. d/b/a Protect Your Home d/b/a Home Defender d/b/a True Home Security

Defendant.



Civil Action No. 3:17-cv-207 OCB-LRA

COMPLAINT

COME NOW the Plaintiffs and prospective Class Representatives, under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23, Chester McCoy, Benjamin Causey, and DeMarcus Haile, on behalf of themselves and all of those similarly situated, who file suit against the above-named Defendant, and plead as follows:

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

I. NATURE OF THE SUIT

1. The FLSA was passed by Congress in 1938. The principal congressional purpose in enacting the FLSA was to protect all covered workers from substandard wages and oppressive working hours, labor conditions that are detrimental to maintenance of minimum standards of living necessary for health, efficiency, and general well-being of workers.

Barrentine v. Arkansas-Best Freight System, Inc., 450 U.S. 728, 739, 101 S.Ct. 1437, 1444 (1981).

The liquidated damage provision of the FLSA constitutes a congressional recognition that

failure to pay statutory minimum on time may be so detrimental to maintenance of minimum standard of living necessary for health, efficiency, and general well-being of workers and to the free flow of commerce, that double payment must be made in event of delay in order to insure restoration of the worker(s) to that minimum standard of well-being. *Brooklyn* v. *Sav. Bank* v. *O'Neil*, 324 U.S. 697, 707-08, 65 S.Ct. 895, 902 (1945).

- 2. This action is brought under the FLSA to recover from Defendant overtime compensation, treble damages, back pay for hours worked by the Plaintiffs, and all of those similarly-situated, but not paid by the Defendant, for liquidated damages, and for reasonable attorney's fees and costs.
- 3. Additionally, Plaintiffs seek a declaration of rights pursuant to Rule 57, Fed. R. Civ. P., and the Federal Declaratory Judgment Act ("DJA"), 28 U.S.C. §2201.

II. PARTIES

- 4. The first-named Plaintiff, Chester McCoy, is an adult citizen of the state of Mississippi, who resides in Lincoln County. He may served with process through his attorney-of-record in this matter.
- 5. The second-named Plaintiff, Benjamin Causey, is an adult citizen of the state of Mississippi, who resides in Rankin County. He may be served with process through his attorney-of-record in this matter.
- 6. The third-named Plaintiff, DeMarcus Haile, is an adult citizen of the state of Mississippi, who resides in Hinds County. He may be served with process through his attorney-of-record in this matter.

7. The Defendant, Defenders, Inc., d/b/a Protect Your Home d/b/a Home Defender d/b/a True Home Security ("Defenders"), is an Indiana-based corporation that is registered as a Foreign Corporation with the Mississippi Secretary of State's office. Defenders may be served with process via its registered agent with the Mississippi Secretary of State, Corporation Service Company, 5760 I-55 North, Suite 150, Jackson, Mississippi 39211.

III. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

- 8. This Court possesses subject-matter jurisdiction over Plaintiffs' claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1337 and the FLSA.
- 9. This Court has the authority to grant declaratory relief pursuant to the FLSA and the federal Declaratory Judgment Act ("DJA"), 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-02.
- 10. This Court possess personal jurisdiction over the Defendant based upon the "doing business" prong of the Mississippi Long-Arm statute. Miss. Code Section 13-3-57 (1972).
- 11. Since the Defendant maintains its corporate headquarters in Indianapolis, Indiana, venue for this action properly lies in the Southern District of Mississippi, Jackson Division, under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) & (c).

IV. REQUEST FOR CLASS CERTIFICATION UNDER FEDERAL RULE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 23

- 12. The Plaintiffs, on behalf of those similarly-situated, seek certification as the class representatives for a class action lawsuit, under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
- 13. The class sought to be certified under Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil

 Procedure, with the Plaintiffs as the class representatives, is all of those current and former

Defenders employees who have been victimized by the violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act, as detailed further in this Complaint.

- 14. The Plaintiffs, as the prospective class representatives, and the prospective members of this class, under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23, have shared similar injuries, and have suffered from similar forms of financial injury as a sole and proximate result of the (purposeful and intentional) violations of the FLSA by Defenders.
- 15. Specifically, as relates to the appropriateness of this proposed class certification under Rule 23(b)(2) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the Defendant has acted and/or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the class, making appropriate declaratory and injunctive relief with respect to the Plaintiffs, and the class as a whole. The proposed class members are entitled to injunctive relief to end the Defendants' common, knowing, intentional, uniform, malicious, and unlawful violations of the FLSA.
- 16. Further, the proposed class is so numerous that joinder would be impracticable. Although the precise number of members of the proposed class is currently unknown, this number is far greater than can be feasibly addressed through joinder.
- 17. The class members of the proposed class also share common questions of fact and law. Among these common questions of fact are law are: (1) whether the Defendant's common and uniform wage and hour policies as it relates to its installation-technicians, and managers of this department, violate the provisions of the FLSA regarding required tracking of all hours worked, and all overtime payments owed to the Plaintiffs and prospective class members; (2) whether Defenders has engaged in a pattern and practice of knowingly violating the FLSA by refusing to pay correct overtime wages, in addition to properly pay its

employees for all hours worked on behalf of their employer, Defenders; and (3) whether monetary damages, injunctive relief, and/or other equitable remedies for the class are warranted.

- 18. The Plaintiffs, the proposed class representatives, have suffered injuries, and have claims, that are typical of all current and/or former employees (victims) of the unlawful wage and hours practices of Defenders toward its installation-technicians and their field-managers.
- 19. The Plaintiffs, as the proposed class representatives (the Class Plaintiffs), will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the members of the proposed class.

V. COVERAGE UNDER THE FLSA

- 20. At all material times since 2007, the Defendant, Defenders, was an enterprise covered by the FLSA, and as defined by 29 U.S.C. § 203(r) and 203 (s).
- 21. At all material times since July 2011, Defenders was an employer as defined by 29 U.S.C. § 203(d).
- 22. At all material times relevant to this action, Defendant's annual gross volume of sales made or business done is not less than five-hundred thousand dollars (\$500,000.00).
- 23. At all material times relevant to this action, Defendant has had two or more employees handling, selling or otherwise working on goods or materials that have been moved or produced for such commerce, *i.e.*, home-secutity-installation supplies, tools, equipment, etc.
- 24. Additionally, Plaintiffs were/are engaged in activities that had a substantial effect upon interstate commerce during their employment with the Defendant.
 - 25. At all material times relevant to this action, the Defendant failed to comply with 29

- U.S.C. §§201-209 due to the fact that the Plaintiffs performed services for the Defendant for which no provisions were made by Defendant to properly pay Plaintiffs for those hours in excess of forty (40) within a work week.
- 26. During their employment with Defendant, the Plaintiffs were not paid time-and-one-half their regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of forty per work week during one or more weeks.
- 27. Defendant and its officers and agencies are responsible under the United States Constitution, federal law, and regulations for the establishment and administration of personnel, employment, and compensation policies and practices, and for applying to Plaintiffs the provisions of the FLSA and other applicable federal pay and compensation statutes and regulations.
- 28. Upon information and belief, the records, to the extent that any exist, concerning the number of hours worked and amounts paid to Plaintiffs are in the possession, custody and control of the Defendant.

V. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

- 29. Defendant home-security-system-installation and repair services to consumers throughout the United States.
- 30. Defendant purports to contract with individuals to perform installation, repair, construction and supervisory work associated with monitoring the quality of those services.
- 31. Defendant pays its technician by the job (commonly referred to as "piece rate").

 Defendant's technicians are required to show up at a specific time in the morning, and at such location are handed out specific orders with instructions as to specific work which must

be done by that day, or within a matter of hours. Moreover, each contractor is provided with specification books as to how each such installation, repair, or construction work is to be performed.

- 32. All of the telecommunications equipment used by the Plaintiffs and those similarly must be picked up from a facility on Defendant's property where Defendant informs each technician of the amount of equipment needed to perform the jobs for that day.
- 33. Each of the Plaintiffs has worked well over forty hours per week since their employment with the Defendant began.
- 34. Typically, the Plaintiffs work(ed) between fifty-five (55) and eighty (80) hours per week without any legitimate overtime compensation.
- 35. In addition, Defenders has failed to pay its installation employees for any hours worked (let alone overtime pay) related to the following, mandatory activities that Defenders requires of its employees: (1) daily mandatory meetings, beginning at 6:30 A.M. each workday, of approximately 1.5-2.0 hours per meeting; (2) weekly mandatory meetings (on Wednesdays), of approximately 4.0-4.5 hours; these meetings are now stipulated to occur all of the way up in Memphis, Tennessee, for the Mississippi-based employees; (3) unpaid travel time of approximately 10-20 hours per week, per employee.
- 36. If the Defendant, or its customers, are unsatisfied with work performed by the Plaintiffs, the Defendant required(es) the Plaintiffs to go out and correct any perceived deficiency, and to make all repairs immediately, while the Plaintiffs are not paid for their time worked in correcting these perceived deficiencies.
 - 37. The Defendant, Defenders, engages in a uniform and common pattern of cheating

its employees out of the true accounting of all of the hours they work on the job, and their proper overtime pay under the FLSA, in a multitude of ways that will be further exposed during discovery in this litigation.

- 38. First-named Plaintiff, Chester McCoy, worked as a technician for Defendant from approximately 2011 until June 2015.
- 39. Second-named Plaintiff, Benjamin Causey, has worked as a technician/field manager for Defendant until approximately November 2013. Benjamin Causey did not discover his injuries (the wrongfulness of Defender's wage and hour practices) until only very recently. These violations, and the injuries caused by them to Benjamin Causey, have been concealed from this Plaintiff by the Defendant. Therefore, these claims are not time-barred under the discovery rule that applies to such concealed injuries.
- 40. Third-named Plaintiff, DeMarcus Haile, has worked as a technician for Defendant from approximately September 2015 until he was (wrongly) terminated likely for publicly-expressing concerns over wage and hour violations by Defenders in May 2016.
 - 41. Plaintiffs were all paid "piece rate" compensation in exchange for work performed.
- 42. Specifically, Plaintiffs wages were based on the job performed, not the amount of hours worked, regardless of how many hour above forty, per work week, they worked on behalf of Defenders.
- 43. Plaintiffs routinely work(ed) far in excess of forty hours per week as part of their regular job duties.
- 44. Despite working more than forty hours per week, Defendant failed to pay Plaintiffs overtime compensation at a rate of time-and-a-half their regular rate of pay for those hours

worked in excess of forty in a work week.

- 45. Defendant knowingly, willfully, or with reckless disregard carried out its illegal pattern or practice of failing to pay overtime compensation with respect to the Plaintiffs.
- 46. Defendant did not act in good faith or reliance upon any of the following in formulating its pay practices: (a) case law, (b) the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq., (c) Department of Labor Wage & Hour Opinion Letters, or (d) the Code of Federal Regulations.
- 47. During the relevant period, Defendant violated § 7(a)(l) and § 15(a)(2), by employing the Plaintiffs in an enterprise engaged in commerce, or in the production of goods for commerce, within the meaning of the FLSA, for one or more work weeks without compensating Plaintiffs for their work at a rate of at least time-and-one-half for all hours worked in excess of 40 hours in a work week.
 - 48. Defendant has acted willfully in failing to pay Plaintiffs in accordance with the law.

COUNT I - RECOVERY OF OVERTIME COMPENSATION

- 49. Plaintiffs reincorporate and readopt all allegations contained within Paragraphs 1 through 48, above.
- 50. Plaintiffs are/were entitled to be paid time-and-one-half their regular rate of pay for each hour worked in excess of forty per work week.
- 51. During their employment with Defendant, Plaintiffs regularly worked overtime hours but were not paid time-and-one-half compensation for any of these hours worked.
- 52. Specifically, Plaintiffs were paid a "piece rate" method of payment, without any additional premium payment of time-and-one-half of their regular rate of pay for the hours

that they worked in excess of forty within a work week.

- 53. In addition, Defendant did not maintain and keep accurate time records, as required by the FLSA, for the hours that the Plaintiffs worked on behalf of Defenders.
- 54. Defenders committed these blatant and knowing violations of the FLSA even though it actually, upon information and belief, posted the required FLSA informational listings, as required by the FLSA, for Plaintiffs to view and be informed of their rights under the FLSA. It is these posters that ultimately lead to the discovery of the Plaintiffs of the wrongfulness of Defenders' wage and hour policies toward its technicians and field-managers.
- 55. As a result of Defendant's willful violation of the FLSA, Plaintiffs are entitled to liquidated damages under federal law.
- 56. As a result of Defendant's intentional, willful, and unlawful acts in refusing to pay Plaintiffs time-and-one-half their regular rate of pay for each hour worked in excess of forty per work week in one or more work separate weeks, the Plaintiffs have suffered significant damages, along with incurring reasonable attorney's fees and costs.
 - 57. Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury.

COUNT II - RECOVERY OF UNPAID MINIMUM WAGE (FEDERAL)

- 58. Plaintiffs allege and reincorporate all allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 57 of this Complaint.
- 59. At all relevant times, Defendant has been, and continues to be, an employer engaged in interstate commerce and/or the production of goods for commerce, within the meaning of the FLSA.

- 60. At all relevant times, Defendant employed, and/or continues to employ the Plaintiffs in this action.
- 61. As stated above, Defendant had and/or continues to have a policy of paying Plaintiffs a "piece rate" method of payment, regardless of the number of hours actually worked.
- 62. The "piece rate" paid by the Defendant would vary depending on what kind of installation or repair the Plaintiffs would perform.
- 63. Plaintiffs often worked in excess of eighty hours per week (based upon a true accounting of all hours worked on behalf of Defenders) and only received the piece rate of pay, without any additional compensation for the hours worked in excess of forty within a week.
- 64. There have been many weeks where Plaintiffs have been paid less than the statutory minimum wage for all hours worked as a result of Defendant's piece rate method of payment.
 - 65. Such a policy and practice violates the FLSA's minimum wage provisions.
- 66. Defendant's failure to pay Plaintiffs the full minimum wage is a violation of 29 U.S.C. § 206.
- 67. The foregoing conduct, as alleged, constitutes a willful violation of the FLSA within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 255(a).

COUNT III- DECLARATORY RELIEF

- 68. Plaintiffs readopt and reincorporate Paragraphs 1-67, above.
- 69. This Court possesses jurisdiction to hear Plaintiffs' request for declaratory relief

under the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§2201-2202.

- 70. Plaintiffs may obtain declaratory relief.
- 71. Defendant employs(ed) the Plaintiffs.
- 72. Defendant is an enterprise.
- 73. The Plaintiffs are/were each individually covered by the FLSA.
- 74. Defendant failed to pay Plaintiffs for all the hours that they worked.
- 75. Plaintiffs are entitled to overtime under 29 U.S.C. §207(a)(1).
- 76. Plaintiffs are entitled to full minimum wage under 29 U.S.C. § 206(a).
- 78. Defendant did not keep accurate time records, as required under 29 U.S.C. §211(c) and 29 C.F.R. Part 516.
 - 79. Defendant did not rely on a good faith defense if failing to do so.
 - 80. Plaintiffs are entitled to liquidated damages.
 - 81. It is in the public interest to have these declarations of rights recorded
- 82. Plaintiffs' declaratory judgment action serves the useful purpose of clarifying and settling the legal relations at issue in this litigation.
- 83. The declaratory judgment action terminates and affords relief from the uncertainty, insecurity, and controversy giving rise to this litigation.
 - 84. Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury.

BASED UPON THE ABOVE-PLEADED ALLEGATIONS, the Plaintiffs demand judgment against Defendant for:

1. The payment of all overtime hours at one-and-one-half the regular rate of pay for the hours worked by Plaintiffs for which the Defendant did not properly compensate them;

2. The payment of all regular hours worked at no less than the statutory minimum wage;

3. Liquidated (and treble/punitive) damages;

4. Reasonable attorney's fees and costs incurred in this action;

5. A declaration that Plaintiffs were/are employees of the Defendant under the terms of

the FLSA, and that they were/are not independent contractors; along with a declaration that

the structure of "piece meal" payment by the Defendant to its technicians and field-

managers in unlawful under the FLSA; and a declaration that the technician and field-

managers employees of the Defendant must be paid the appropriate hourly wage(s) for all

mandatory travel-time, meetings, etc., that Defenders requires.

6. Reimbursement of self-employment tax unnecessarily paid by Plaintiffs as a result of

their misclassification;

7. Pre and post-judgment interest, as provided by law;

8. A trial by jury on all fact issues; and

9. Any and all further relief that this Court determines to be appropriate.

Respectfully submitted,

CHESTER McCOY.;

BENJAMIN CAUSEY; and

DeMARCUS HAILE

The Plaintiffs (and prospective class

representatives)

OF COUNSEL

MACY D. HANSON - MS BAR # 104197

macy@macyhanson.com

THE LAW OFFICE OF MACY D. HANSON, PLLC

THE ECHELON CENTER 102 FIRST CHOICE DRIVE MADISON, MISSISSIPPI 39110 TELEPHONE: (601) 853-9521 FACSIMILE: (601) 853-9327 JS 44 (Rev. 08/16)

#34643044142

CIVIL COVER SHEET 3:17-CV-207 DLB-LRA

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of intuiting the civil decket sheet. INSERT THE CONTROLLED THE SERVE THE SE

purpose of initiating the civil de	ocket sheet. TNEE INSTRUC	TIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF	THIS FORM)		
I. (a) PLAINTIFFS Chester McCoy (Lincoln Benjamin Causey (Ranki DeMarcus Haile (Hinds C	in County);	SOUTHERN DISTRIC		o/a Protect Your Home o	l/b/a Home Defender d/b/a
(b) County of Residence of	• •	MAR 2'	SOTE IN LAND CO	of First Listed Defendant (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASEN OF DIDEMNATION CASES, USE TO FLAND INVOLVED.	
(c) Attorneys (Firm Name,) Macy D. Hanson 102 First Choice Drive Madison, MS 39110	dddress, and Telephone Numbe 601-853-9521	January 1997	Attorneys (If Known)		
II. BASIS OF JURISDI	CTION (Place an "X" in O	ne Box Only)		RINCIPAL PARTIES	(Place an "X" in One Box for Plaintiff
🗇 1 U.S. Government Plaintiff	3 Federal Question (U.S. Government Not a Party)			FF DEF 1 □ 1 Incorporated or Pr of Business In 1	
🗇 2 U.S. Government Defendant			Citizen of Another State		
			Citizen or Subject of a Society Country	3 J 3 Foreign Nation	7676
IV. NATURE OF SUIT				Click here for: Nature of Su	
CONTRACT ☐ 110 Insurance ☐ 120 Marine	PERSONAL INJURY 310 Airplane	PERSONAL INJURY 365 Personal Injury	T 625 Drug Related Seizure of Property 21 USC 881	BANKRUPTCY 3 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 3 423 Withdrawal	7 375 False Claims Act 7 376 Qui Tam (31 USC
130 Miller Act 140 Negotiable Instrument	7 315 Airplane Product Liability	Product Liability 367 Health Care/	© 690 Other	28 USC 157	3729(a)) 7 400 State Reapportionment
☐ 150 Recovery of Overpayment	🗇 320 Assault, Libel &	Pharmaceutical		PROPERTY RIGHTS	☐ 410 Antinust
& Enforcement of Judgment 151 Medicare Act 152 Recovery of Defaulted	□ 330 Federal Employers' Liability	Personal Injury Product Liability 368 Asbestos Personal		☐ 820 Copyrights ☐ 830 Patent ☐ 840 Tradematk	430 Banks and Banking 450 Commerce 460 Deportation
Student Loans (Excludes Veterans)	☐ 340 Marine ☐ 345 Marine Product	Injury Product Liability	LABOR	SOCIAL SECURITY	470 Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations
☐ 153 Recovery of Overpayment of Veteran's Benefits	Liability 350 Motor Vehicle	PERSONAL PROPERT 7 370 Other Fraud	Y 710 Fair Labor Standards Act	☐ 861 HIA (1395ff) ☐ 862 Black Lung (923)	☐ 480 Consumer Credit ☐ 490 Cuble/Sat TV
☐ 160 Stockholders' Suits ☐ 190 Other Contract	7 355 Motor Vehicle Product Liability	☐ 371 Truth in Lending ☐ 380 Other Personal	720 Labor/Management Relations	☐ 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) ☐ 864 SSID Tifle XVI	☐ 850 Securities/Commodities/ Exchange
3 195 Contract Product Liability	360 Other Personal	Property Damage	740 Railway Labor Act	☐ 865 RSI (405(g))	73 890 Other Statutory Actions
☐ 196 Franchise	Injury 1 362 Personal Injury -	385 Property Damage Product Liability	(7 75) Family and Medical Leave Act		☐ 894 Agricultural Acts ☐ 893 Environmental Matters
REAL PROPERTY	Medical Malpractice CfVIL RIGHTS	PRISONER PETITIONS	☐ 790 Other I abor Litigation ☐ 791 Employee Retirement	FEDERAL TAX SUITS	D 895 Freedom of Information Act
☐ 210 Land Condemnation ☐ 220 Foreclosure	☐ 440 Other Civil Rights ☐ 441 Voting	Habeas Corpus:	Income Security Act	3 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff or Defendant)	7 896 Arbitration 7 899 Administrative Procedure
🗇 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment	☐ 442 Employment	3 510 Motions to Vacate	İ	☐ 871 IRS—Third Party	Act Review or Appeal of
☐ 240 Torts to Land ☐ 245 Tort Product Liability	7 443 Housing Accommodations	Sentence 3 530 General		26 USC 7609	Agency Decision 7 950 Constitutionality of
3 290 All Other Real Property	7 445 Amer. w Disabilities • Employment	7 535 Death Penalty Other:	IMMIGRATION 3 462 Naturalization Application		State Statutes
	J 446 Amer, w Disabilities - Other	☐ 540 Mandamus & Other ☐ 550 Civil Rights			
	☐ 448 Education	3 555 Prison Condition	Actions		
		コ 560 Civil Detainee - Conditions of			
V. ORIGIN (Place an "X" u	Contraction Contraction	Confinement			L
🗶 I Original - 🗇 2 Rei	moved from 📅 3	Remanded from Appellate Court	4 Reinstated or Reopened 5 Transfe Anothe	r District Litigation	
UL GARGE OF A OFFICE	 L29 U.S.C. Section 	tute under which you are 1 203 et. seq. (FLSA	filing (Do not cite jurisdictional stat		
VI. CAUSE OF ACTIO	porter description of ca	use: ispute under the FLS			
VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT: COMPLAINT: CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P.		DEMAND S 1,000,000.00	CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint. JURY DEMAND: X Yes No		
VIII. RELATED CASE	E(S) (See instructions):				
DATE		SIGNATURE OF ATTO	ORNEY OF RECORD	DOCKET NUMBER	<u> </u>
03/27/2017			16	Hans	
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY					
RECEIPT # AN	40UNT	APPLYING IFP	JUDGE	MAG JUT	DGE

ClassAction.org

This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this post: <u>Back Wages Sought in Class Action Against Defenders, Inc.</u>